Immune Responses to Resistance Exercise

Daniel J. Freidenreich and Jeff S. Volek

Human Performance Laboratory, Department of Kinesiology, University of Connecticut, Storrs, Connecticut, USA

ABSTRACT

Resistance exercise induces changes in leukocyte redistribution, phenotypical surface expression and leukocyte functionality. Several factors have been shown to alter the temporal pattern and/or magnitude of response including manipulation of acute program variables, the aging process, and nutritional supplementation. Rest period length and load can modify the temporal pattern and/or magnitude of leukocytosis post exercise. Aging diminishes both the duration and magnitude of the post exercise leukocytosis and reduces leukocyte functionality. The few studies that assessed the effects of nutritional supplements (e.g., carbohydrate, whey protein, caffeine) peri-resistance exercise showed minimal effects on leukocyte responses. Sex differences exist in the timing and magnitude of leukocyte infiltration into skeletal muscle. The immune response to resistance exercise is only a small part of the recovery paradigm. A better understanding of how acute program variables and other factors such as aging, sex and nutritional supplementation affect the immune response to resistance exercise is important in the context of improving recovery, performance and health.

Key Words: resistance exercise; training; immune response; leukocyte; white blood cells; neutrophil; monocyte; natural killer cell; granulocyte; lymphocyte; sex differences; gender; supplementation; immunosenescence; aging; intensity; catecholamines; cortisol; lactate; metabolic stress

Glossary of Terms:	IL-1RA – Interleukin-1 Receptor Agonist;
NK cells – Natural Killer Cells;	IL-1 β – Interleukin 1 β ;
NKCA – Natural Killer Cell Cytotoxic Activity;	IL-6 – Interleukin 6;
RE – Resistance Exercise;	IL-10 – Interleukin 10;
IP – Immediate Post;	VCAM-1 -Vascular Cell Adhesion Molecule 1;
PE – Post Exercise;	ICAM-1 – Intercellular Adhesion Molecule 1;
TNF-α – Tumor Necrosis Factor α;	VLA-4 – Very Late Antigen 4;
MIP-1 α – Macrophage Inflammatory Protein 1 α ;	Ig – Immunoglobulin;
MIP-1 β – Macrophage Inflammatory Protein 1 β ;	TLR – Toll-like Receptor;
IFN- γ – Interferon γ ;	$\beta_2 \text{ ADR} - \beta_2 \text{ adrenergic receptor;}$
GM-CSF – Granulocyte Macrophage	GCR – Glucocorticoid Receptor;
Colony-Stimulating Factor;	^{99m} Tc – Technetium-99m;
G-CSF – Granulocyte Colony-Stimulating Factor;	MPO – Myeloperoxidase;
M-CSF – Macrophage/Monocyte	LPS – Lipopolysaccharide;
Colony-Stimulating Factor;	ACTH – Adrenocorticotropic Hormone

Correspondence: Jeff S. Volek, PhD, RD, Associate Professor, Department of Kinesiology, University of Connecticut, 2095 Hillside Rd, U-1110 Storrs, CT 06269, 860-486-6712, jeff.volek@uconn.edu

INTRODUCTION

Leukocytes mediate regeneration and repair of muscle tissue after resistance exercise induced damage. Following a bout of resistance exercise natural killer cells, monocytes and neutrophils increase in the circulation. Monocytes infiltrate the tissue and differentiate into macrophages (3). Macrophages are essential for muscle repair and perform several functions such as aiding satellite cells in recruiting monocytes, stimulating satellite cell proliferation and differentiation with monocytes, promoting myogenic precursor cell survival through cell to cell adhesion and mediating extracellular matrix repair (21, 95, 136, 143). Muscle cells release chemokines which attract neutrophils to damaged tissue (143). Neutrophils aid macrophages in muscle repair by inducing oxidative damage to muscle cell membranes and by removing cellular debris along with macrophages through phagocytosis (143). NK cells may function to maintain continued recruitment of monocytes and neutrophils into the circulation through cytokine cross-talk.

The majority of resistance exercise and immune literature has focused on post exercise changes in circulating leukocyte counts. The temporal pattern and magnitude of response in circulating leukocytes is altered by manipulation of the acute program variables, age and nutritional status (11, 20, 87). Shear stress and hormonal signals (e.g., catecholamines) induce the release of leukocytes from the marginated pool but the leukocyte response is not random. Specific cells must be redistributed for specific functional purposes. By analyzing the phenotypical and functional characteristics of the cells which increase in circulation, a better understanding of why certain cell populations are increased post exercise can be deduced.

The effects of endurance exercise on the immune system has been the focus of many review articles, yet in comparison the effects of resistance training on the immune system has received little attention (15, 47, 49, 50, 82, 100, 122, 133, 152, 153). The purpose of this review is to provide a comprehensive review that focuses on the immune response to resistance exercise in humans. The immune response to resistance training is operationally defined as changes in the magnitude and temporal pattern of circulating leukocytes, changes in circulating leukocyte phenotype (e.g., surface molecules such as Ig, TLRs, adhesion molecules, etc.) and functional parameters (NKCA and proliferation). We hope this discussion provides a foundation and inspires researchers to pursue additional work in this important area to better understand the relationships between skeletal muscle and leukocytes and how resistance training can benefit both young and elderly populations.

Table of Contents

Leukocyte Patterns in Young Resistance Training Subjects	10
The Effects of Specific Program Variables on Leukocyte Redistribution	13
Effects of Dietary Factors on Resistance Exercise-Induced Leukocytosis	14
Leukocyte Patterns in the Elderly: Effects of Immunosenescence	16
The Effects of Aging on Leukocyte Function	18
Catecholamines and the Immune Response to Resistance Exercise	19
Cortisol and the Immune Response to Resistance Exercise	20
Infiltration of Muscle Tissue by Leukocytes	21
Sex Differences	23
Effects of Resistance Training on Leukocyte Phenotypical Expression	24
Hypotheses and Future Directions	25
Conclusion	27

Leukocyte Patterns in Young Resistance Training Subjects

Introduction. A large number of studies inclusive of diverse training programs have examined the magnitude and temporal patterns of change in circulating leukocytes in response to resistance training (Table 1). Most of these studies measured leukocyte redistribution after a single bout of resistance exercise or used an acute testing exercise bout before, during and after a period of chronic training (6 months or more).

Monocytes. The most common pattern of response observed in monocytes is an increase during exercise, an early peak immediately post with a sustained monocytosis up to 120 min PE (87, 103, 116). Monocyte peak times occurred at the IP (87, 103, 134, 140) or 120 min PE time points (116). Most studies show a sustained monocytosis through the final measured time point (90-120 min), although a quicker return to baseline has been reported by 30 or 45 min PE (134, 140).

CD4 T Helper Cells. The response pattern for CD4 T helper cells to resistance exercise is variable. CD4 T cells have been shown to moderately but not significantly increase during exercise (116), result in no change (140), or result in a sustained lymphocytosis between the IP and 15 min PE time points before returning to baseline by 30 min PE (134). It is difficult to explain why CD4 T cells did not show a consistent pattern since details of the training programs used in each study were not always provided, but total volume of work may impact the CD4 T cell response (See Table 1).

CD8 Cytotoxic T Cells. The predominant CD8 T cell response is a lymphocytosis immediately post, followed by a return to baseline between 15-45 min PE

(134, 140). A different pattern of response was observed by Ramel et al 2003 where CD8 T cells decreased by approximately 14% during recovery before returning to pre-exercise levels by 120 min PE (116).

B Cells. The B cell response to resistance exercise depends on the subset being analyzed. Cells stained for CD19 represent both young immature and older mature B cells while CD20 staining represents mature B cells (78). The general acute response pattern for CD19 B cells is an increase in B cells immediately post followed by a return to baseline by 120 min PE (31, 93, 103). Since only one study measured beyond the IP time point, a narrower time frame for the return of CD19 B cells to baseline cannot be established. CD20 B cells show no significant changes in cell counts during the PE recovery period (140). It is possible that acute resistance exercise results in an increase in younger B cells in circulation.

Natural Killer Cells. NK cells respond to an acute bout of resistance exercise with a lymphocytosis during exercise (116) and immediately post (31, 93, 103, 134, 140) which is sustained until 15 min PE (134) and then either returns to baseline by 30 or 45 min PE (134, 140) or declines below baseline during the recovery period until the final time point at 120 min PE (116).

Neutrophils. The general acute response pattern of neutrophils is an increase above baseline immediately post with a sustained neutrophilia up to 120 min PE (87, 103, 116, 117, 134). Neutrophil peak times occurred immediately post (134) or at the last measured time point, either 90 (87) or 120 min PE (103, 116).

Basophils. Relatively few studies have measured and reported values for basophils after acute resistance exercise (67, 103, 134). The predominant response appears to be no change in basophils during the PE period (67, 134). Basophils have been reported to mimic the response of neutrophils, the predominant granulocyte, increasing above baseline immediately post and at the final 120 minute PE time point (103). The basophil response is associated with higher PE lactate (103).

Eosinophils. Three studies reported no changes in eosinophils within the first 30 minutes after exercise (67, 103, 134). However, one study measured eosinophils at 120 min PE and noted a decrease below baseline (103). Eosinophils show the weakest response to acute resistance exercise.

Effects of Chronic Resistance Training. Chronic resistance training is defined as performance of regular bouts of resistance exercise over a period of 6 or more months with a frequency of at least 2-3 times per week. It has been demonstrated that the type of routine (power or hypertrophy) and the workload (total body or upper body) do not affect the acute changes in the magnitude of circulating lymphocyte subsets, monocytes or neutrophils in response to a single exercise bout or augment resting levels of these leukocytes over a 6 month time period (91, 92). Since only pre to post measures were observed the possibility of differences exist-

ing between groups at later time points cannot be excluded. These studies only included women and so these results cannot be inferred to men.

Absolute Versus Relative Changes in Leukocyte Patterns. The method of reporting circulating cells can affect the results. For example Stock et al 1995 reported PE increases in total T cells, CD8 T cells, NK cells, total lymphocytes and total monocytes when expressed as absolute cell counts. However, when expressed as cell percentages, total lymphocytes, monocytes and CD8 T cells did not increase significantly PE, total T cells and CD4 T cells decreased PE and NK cells increased (140). The method of reporting changes in circulating leukocytes may especially affect lymphocytes since the dominant lymphocyte subset to change is NK cells. Immediately PE NK cells increase in magnitude by a much greater percentage than T cells or B cells, often increasing by over 200% (31, 93, 103, 140). The magnitude of the NK cell response can mask the relative response of other lymphocytes when expressed as cell percentages. Therefore absolute cell counts should be the preferred method of reporting exercise induced changes in leukocytes preferably in units of 10^9 cells/L.

Summary. Resistance exercise impacts the magnitude of circulating leukocytes. (Figure 1). Monocytes and neutrophils show an early increase at the IP time point with a sustained leukocytosis through 120 minutes PE. NK cells appear to show an early increase followed by either a quick return to baseline or a



eosinophils show little change . CD4 T cells do not have a general pattern and the B cell response depends on the subset. CD8 T cells show a lymphocytosis immediately PE and return to baseline as early as 15 minutes PE. Chronic resistance training appears to have no effect on circulating leukocyte counts at rest or after acute exercise regardless of training type (power vs hypertrophy) or workload (total body vs upper body) (91). Sex differences cannot be since these studies uti-

decrease below baseline. The smaller gran-

Figure 1. Temporal response patterns of selected leukocyte discerned chronically subsets in the circulation and muscle tissue.

lized only women. There appears to be no significant difference in the magnitude of leukocytosis after an acute bout of exercise between young trained and untrained individuals (111, 116). The method of reporting changes in circulating cell counts after RE can affect the results, especially when describing changes in lymphocytes.

The Effects of Specific Program Variables on Leukocyte Redistribution

Introduction. Skeletal muscle adaptations and the acute hormonal responses to resistance exercise are impacted by the exercise program variables (i.e., loading, rest period length, set sequence, volume, total work, exercise choice and exercise order). Manipulating these variables can impact the intensity of the training program which can be measured by physiological changes such as heart rate and lactate and scales which rate perceived exertion such as the Borg RPE scale. Manipulating these variables can also modify the magnitude and perhaps temporal pattern of circulating leukocytes PE.

Rest Period Length. Rest period length is the interval of time taken to rest between subsequent sets in a resistance training routine. The effect of rest interval length (1 vs 3 min) while maintaining the load, total work, exercise choice and exercise order has been determined (87). Resistance exercise resulted in a similar temporal pattern of increase in total leukocytes, total lymphocytes, monocytes and neutrophils regardless of time between sets, but the short rest interval resulted in a significantly greater magnitude of response PE for all leukocyte subsets (87).

Load. Load is often defined as a percentage of 1RM and has demonstrated the potential to impact the leukocyte response to resistance training. Specifically, neutrophils displayed a different response pattern to different loading conditions, indicating that neutrophils may be sensitive to changes in loading conditions. Neutrophils increased more rapidly in response to a load of 55% 1RM than 65% 1 RM, however the cadence was also quicker in the higher load protocol but rest period length was the same (20).

Metabolic Response. The metabolic response to resistance exercise may impact the immune response as evidenced by a trend towards a greater increase in NK cells and significantly greater increases in CD19 B cells and CD8 and CD4 T cells in subjects who had a greater lactate response to resistance exercise (92). There were no differences in granulocytes or monocytes between high and low lactate responders (92). Lactate itself or the associated increase in acidity may impact leukocytes (59, 77, 92). Factors that determine lactate production such as inter-individual differences in muscle metabolism and manipulation of program variables may mediate the effect (35, 113, 121). Greater PE lactate levels are also associated with a greater catecholaminergic response which may also play a role in modifying cellular redistribution (113).

Future Directions. Manipulation of rest period length and load can alter leukocyte redistribution. The ideal immune response would be one that minimizes the risk of infection/onset of sickness/illness allowing for peak performance to be uninterrupted by immune compromise. This is especially crucial for athletes who compete and train during a season, a time at which maintenance of performance is crucial. The relationship between the degree of PE leukocytosis and prevention of illness/maintenance of health remains unclear. It would be valuable for future research studies to determine the impact of each program variable on leukocyte redistribution to be able to prescribe a resistance training program that will help maintain performance and health.

Effects of Dietary Factors on Resistance Exercise-Induced Leukocytosis

Nutritional supplements can modulate physical performance and may impact the immune response to resistance exercise. The majority of studies that examined the impact of dietary factors on the immune response did so in the context of acute supplementation around a single bout of resistance exercise , but a few studies utilized acute testing sessions before and after a short term training period (8-21 weeks).

Carbohydrates. The temporal pattern of monocytes and eosinophils are altered by providing carbohydrate around a bout of resistance exercise while neutrophils and basophils are unaffected. The duration of PE monocytosis was truncated to 60 minutes, half the duration observed in most studies without carbohydrate supplementation (20, 61, 87, 101, 103, 116). A quick return to baseline by 30-45 min has been observed previously after unsupplemented exercise bouts (134, 140). Eosinophils displayed an immediate PE increase with carbohydrate supplementation, which contrasts the observances made without supplementation (61, 103, 134). Total lymphocytes largely mirrored the response pattern of natural killer cells observed without supplementation indicating that NK cells dictate the response of lymphocytes. An exception was seen by Carlson et al 2008 with an increase in lymphocytes at 90 min PE (20). Although there is inconsistency among studies, the magnitude of response for neutrophils (101), monocytes (101) and total lymphocytes (20) may be attenuated by carbohydrate supplementation. The addition of a 4h time point by Koch et al 2001 also revealed a sustained neutrophilia and a return of lymphocytes to baseline at 4h PE (61). Monocytes may be sensitive to nutritional intake since all the studies which reported a shortened period of PE increase for monocytes had some form of nutritional intake prior to exercise or failed to report it (20, 61, 101, 134, 140).

Caffeine. Caffeine is a central nervous stimulant that increases circulating catecholamines, promotes lipolysis, decreases pain perception, and sustains motor unit firing rates and neuro-excitability through inhibition of adenosine (29). Since maintenance of catecholamine levels has been shown to maintain force production during resistance exercise, it is possible that the increase in catecholamines stimulated by caffeine may aid in maintaining work capacity (44). The only study that has examined the effects of caffeine on the resistance exercise-induced immune response showed no significant difference compared to placebo in the number of circulating neutrophils, basophils, eosinophils, monocytes total leukocytes and total lymphocytes measured immediately post (80). Differences in the temporal pattern of circulating leukocyte counts could not be determined since only a single PE time point was monitored. Since caffeine increases circulating catecholamines the primary cell type affected by catecholamines would be NK cells, but NK cells were not specifically measured. Based on the findings of this study, caffeine has no effect on the IP-resistance exercise immune response.

Cystine and Theanine. Glutamine/cystine and theanine can enhance glutathione concentrations in immune cells in vitro and in the liver in vivo respectively (73, 119). NKCA is correlated with glutathione levels (62, 63). Based on these predications it was determined that a combination cysteine and theanine supplement may have an effect on immune function after resistance training. Daily supplementation with cysteine and theanine maintained NKCA only when an unaccustomed increase in weekly training frequency occurred, but total leukocyte counts were unaffected (60).

Whey Protein. Whey supplementation has been shown to modify muscle damage, performance, perceived post-exercise fatigue and anabolic pathways in muscle fibers in conjunction with resistance training (6, 55, 57). These positive effects have mainly been attributed to the high content of essential amino acids, particularly leucine. Other whey components such as lactoferrin, glutamine, immunoglobulins, and other peptides (eg, lysozome, β-lactoglobulin, and β-lactalbumin) have demonstrated immunoregulatory functions in animals and humans (86). Hulmi et al 2010 observed no effect of whey supplementation on neutrophils, total lymphocytes and mixed cells (monocytes, eosinophils, basophils and immature precursor cells) in young trained, young untrained and elderly trained subjects (56). Another important finding was that young untrained subjects had higher relative neutrophils, mixed cells and absolute lymphocytes than older trained subjects (56). The interpretation of this study is complicated by the fact that whey was provided to both whey and control groups PE and a standardized breakfast was not consumed consistently in all group comparisons. Whey amino acid constituents can appear in the bloodstream within 5 minutes after administration and the breakfast could have impacted the number of circulating cells, particularly monocytes (19, 20, 61, 101).

Summary. Based on the limited studies conducted it appears that supplementation with carbohydrate, protein, and caffeine has a minimal effect on the immune response to resistance exercise. Carbohydrates may attenuate the magnitude of increase in neutrophils, monocytes and total lymphocytes, but the data are inconclusive. Cystine and theanine supplementation appears to maintain NKCA only during periods of rigorous resistance training to which the athlete is unaccustomed to. Whey and caffeine were shown to have no effect on circulating leukocytes. Conclusions about the effect of nutritional supplements on the immune response to resistance exercise are limited by supplement dosage between and/or within studies, monitoring and control of diet prior to acute exercise testing and the number of PE time points. The immune response is often only characterized by changes in circulating cell counts, but other effects such as changes in surface expression of receptors and adhesion molecules or in nucleotide and protein synthesis may also be affected.

Leukocyte Patterns in the Elderly: Effects of Immunosenescence

The aging process results in dysregulation of the immune system, known as immunosenescence, and altered hormonal responses. Immunosenescence is a two component model. The first component is a chronic increase in the levels of proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , IL-6 and IL- 1 β , pro-inflammatory markers such as C-reactive protein and clotting factors known as "inflammaging" (105). The second component is a change in cell signaling. Lipid rafts are rigid platforms in cell membranes that facilitate cell signaling by bringing signaling complexes together (132). Although the surface expression of receptors often doesn't change (129), membrane fluidity changes with aging which could lead to decreased signal complex formation and modified internal cell signaling leading to decreased leukocyte functionality. The direction of change in membrane fluidity with age is dependent on cell type. Neurons and lymphocytes in the elderly show decreases in membrane fluidity, but neutrophils in both elderly humans and rats demonstrate an increase in membrane fluidity (2, 58, 107, 147). Changes in membrane fluidity are associated with changes in membrane cholesterol, phospholipids and fatty acids. Typically membrane cholesterol is inversely related to membrane fluidity (2, 58). There are also population shifts in some leukocyte subsets. Macrophages are skewed to the alternatively activated macrophage phenotype and there is an increase in the proportion of CD56^{dim} NK cells (83). Endothelium dependent vasodilation is reduced with aging in both brachial and coronary arteries which may affect leukocyte redistribution from the marginated pool (34, 46). Aging results in changes to the circadian rhythms of several hormones such as catecholamines and cortisol (30, 146). Elderly individuals also demonstrate a modified hormonal response to resistance exercise as evidenced by diminished PE norepineprhine (11) and an increased sensitivity to ACTH, maintaining a higher level of cortisol (70). Altered leukocyte functioning, constant low grade inflammation decreased vascular plasticity, modified circadian patterns and different hormonal responses to resistance exercise all impact the differences in the immune response to resistance exercise between the young and elderly.

T Cells and B Cells. In elderly individuals, CD4 and CD8 T cells are unresponsive to resistance training. Neither resting nor the PE circulating cell numbers change after acute, short-term or chronic exercise (12, 39, 90, 115, 118). Even when controlling for total work, heavy and light loading acutely have no effect on circulating cell counts (98). Short-term training does not affect resting CD20 B cell counts, and neither short-term nor acute resistance training impacts the number of circulating CD19 B cells at rest or PE (12, 39, 115).

Natural Killer Cells. The predominant pattern of response acutely is an increase in NK cells immediately PE with a return to baseline by 2h PE (39, 90). This pattern was shown to be unaffected by short-term resistance training (39, 90). An

exception to this pattern was observed where untrained elderly subjects showed a decline in NK cell counts below baseline which returned to baseline by 6h PE (11). After short-term training the elderly subjects did not show a decrease in NK cell numbers at the IP time point and instead maintained NK cell numbers throughout the recovery period (11). Thus short-term training maintains NK cell counts after acute exercise. Several protocol differences could have contributed to the disparate results such as the prandial state of the subjects, the duration of short-term training, the acute resistance exercise tests and the sex of the subjects. Chronic resistance exercise does not affect resting NK cell levels (118). Further investigation into the morphology of circulating NK cells indicates that the predominant type of NK cells are the CD56^{dim} subset and this was not altered by chronic training (118).

Overall the NK cell response to acute exercise is reduced compared to young subjects. Although NK cells have been shown to increase after acute resistance training in the elderly, the magnitude of the PE increase is diminished compared to young individuals (11, 31, 39, 90, 103, 116, 140). Not only is the magnitude of the response different in the elderly, but so is the temporal pattern of the PE response. Regardless of training status, elderly individuals display both a diminished magnitude of response and an altered temporal pattern, but training in the elderly may partially restore the NK cell response to resistance exercise.

Neutrophils. Short-term training affects the duration of neutrophilia after acute exercise but chronic training does not impact resting neutrophil cell counts (13). Untrained elderly individuals display a transient neutrophilia at the IP time point (56). After short-term training, the neutrophilia is maintained for 30 minutes into the PE period demonstrating that short-term training increases the duration of neutrophilia after acute exercise (56). In contrast to the elderly, the acute response to resistance training in the young is a sustained neutrophilia during the exercise recovery period up to 2h PE (87, 103, 116, 134). The elderly experience an attenuated time course for neutrophilia with age, but this can be partially recovered through resistance training.

Monocytes. Monocytes respond to an acute bout of resistance exercise, but shortterm training has no effect on the pattern of response and chronic training does not impact the resting monocyte cell count (13). After acute resistance exercise, a transient monocytosis occurs at the IP time point, but short-term training has no impact on this response (Although monocytes were not measured directly, they were measured in a pool of mixed cells, of which they were the predominant cell type.) (40, 56). The acute response pattern of monocytes in the elderly is reduced compared to young individuals. Acute resistance exercise elicits a sustained monocytosis in the young for 120 minutes PE (87, 103, 116, 134). The duration of monocytosis observed in the elderly is far less than that observed in the young and training does not improve this response.

Macrophages. Macrophages demonstrate both impaired functioning and decreased numbers in muscle tissue of the elderly in comparison to younger counterparts. At rest in both young and old subjects, the anti-inflammatory CD163 or

alternatively activated macrophages are more prominent than the CD11b macrophages which are the classically activated pro-inflammatory macrophages (112). Young subjects possess greater numbers of total macrophages than older subjects including greater numbers of both CD163 and CD11b macrophages. Young and elderly subjects display no change in total macrophages (CD68) 72h after a single bout of resistance exercise but young subjects demonstrate increases in both CD163 and CD11b macrophage subsets while elderly individuals show no change in either macrophage subset. At 72h PE young subjects have 8 times more CD163 cells than CD11b cells (112) indicating that the predominant anti-inflammatory pool of macrophages before exercise is further augmented after exercise. Although both young and old at rest and post 72h after exercise show greater numbers of CD163 than CD11b macrophages, the older subjects have significantly fewer CD11b macrophages than younger subjects. This finding confirms that older individuals have a shift to the alternatively activated macrophage subset. Furthermore macrophage dysfunction is evident due to higher baseline levels of IL-1 β and IL-1RA and no increase in anti-inflammatory cytokines PE as younger subjects demonstrated (112). The findings indicate a perturbed macrophage response to resistance exercise in older individuals.

Summary. The response pattern of several leukocyte subsets including monocytes, neutrophils, CD19 B cells, CD4 and CD8 T cells as well as NK cells are all diminished in the elderly compared to the young showing the impact immunosenescence with age has on the immune response to resistance exercise. Although exercise may improve functionality of NK cells, the tissue remodeling process may be slower due to the observed impairment in macrophage numbers and function as well as the known deficits in neutrophil and monocyte functioning.

The Effects of Aging on Leukocyte Function

Decreased NKCA has been associated with poor lifestyle choices, illness and disease whereas maintenance of NKCA is associated with health and longevity in aging (16, 43, 74, 79, 94, 124).

Young. Although natural killer cell cytotoxic activity does not show resting differences based on training status, acute exercise attenuates NKCA later in recovery (102, 103). Immediately after exercise, no change in NKCA was determined despite a 225% increase in NK cells (103). However at 120 minutes PE NKCA decreased by 61% below baseline values when NK cells had decreased below baseline levels (103). NKCA does not appear to mirror changes in circulating NK cell numbers PE. Since the number of circulating NK cells does not appear to affect NKCA, it may be the subset of circulating NK cells that effect NKCA.

NK Cell Subsets. NK cells can be divided into two subsets based on the density of CD56 expression. CD56^{bright} NK cells compose ~10% of circulating NK cells while CD56^{dim} NK cells compose the remaining 90% (76). This distinction is important because of functional differences in these two NK cell subset populations. CD56^{bright} NK cells are more responsive to monokines (monocyte derived cytokines) and produce more cytokines while being less cytotoxic at rest (23, 24).

CD56^{dim} NK cells are more cytotoxic but produce less cytokines (23). The concomitant increase in CD56^{dim} NK cells and decrease in CD56^{bright} with aging may affect both the NKCA and cytokine regulatory capabilities of NK cells in the elderly.

Elderly. The variability of the NKCA response to exercise is a common motif in the literature and resistance training is no exception (39, 120, 131, 154). Resting NKCA has been shown to be unaffected by chronic training (118). The effects of acute and short term training are disparate. NKCA has shown both no changes and significant improvements after acute exercise and short-term training (39, 90). However, the significant improvements in NKCA were reported at all time points including baseline after short-term training. Seasonal variations may have caused or contributed to all the measured time points changing (53, 54, 97). Due to the variability in the NKCA response to resistance training in the elderly and only a single acute resistance training study performed in the young, it is difficult to make comparisons. In the elderly, there is either no change or an acute increase in NKCA after acute exercise (39, 90). In the young, there is no change until a decrease at 2h PE (103).

Lymphocyte Proliferation. Resistance exercise in young individuals has inconsistent effects on lymphocyte proliferation inducing either no effect, an increase or decrease (31, 91, 92, 103, 111). Lymphocyte proliferation consistently shows no response in the elderly possibly indicating a perturbed response to mitogenic signals in the elderly after resistance exercise (39, 115).

Catecholamines and the Immune Response to Resistance Exercise

Resistance Training and Catecholamines. Catecholamines have been shown to respond to a variety of acute resistance exercise programs and have demonstrated dependence on total work, rest period length between sets and reps, anticipation of exercise, training status and the level of metabolic stress (18, 36, 44, 51, 65, 68, 71). Training status does not affect the pattern of the catecholaminergic response but does affect the magnitude of the response (68). Catecholamines can affect blood flow regulation, cardiac contractility, the secretion of other hormones, substrate mobilization and the maintenance of force development (44, 66). Epinephrine and norepinephrine have been shown to increase above baseline values prior to exercise, during exercise and up to 5 minutes during the recovery period (36, 44, 68, 71). Some research indicates that norepinephrine may increase up to 15 minutes PE while epinephrine returns to baseline by this time point (18, 51). NK cells are also elevated during the same timeframe as catecholamines (31, 103, 116, 140). This has been demonstrated with adrenaline infusion, after the cessation of which, circulating NK cells decrease below baseline (126). The parallel increases in circulating catecholamines and NK cells after resistance exercise suggest that catecholamines are necessary to maintain NK cells in circulation and play a role in cellular adhesion.

Catecholamines and Cellular Adhesion. Catecholamines, specifically epinephrine, decrease cellular adhesion (10). Epinephrine infusion has been shown to mobilize cells but does not increase soluble adhesion molecules or alter the surface

20 • Immune Responses to Resistance Exercise

expression of adhesion molecules such as VCAM-1, ICAM-1 or E-Selectin (4, 7, 8, 9, 126). Resistance exercise increases circulating catecholamines, but does not increase soluble adhesion molecules or alter surface expression (93, 108). However, resistance exercise does cause a redistribution of cells preferentially expressing specific adhesion molecules, namely, VLA-4 on lymphocytes and L-Selectin on neutrophils (93). The increase of lymphocytes expressing VLA-4 is due to an increase in circulating NK cells PE (93). NK cells are most likely preferentially recruited since they have the highest density of β_2 ADR (75). When catecholamines bind to β_2 ADR they cause an increase in cAMP and induce changes in cytoskeletal organization which may modify the adhesion of cells to endothelial walls (110, 128, 150). This may lead to the preferential redistribution of cells with specific adhesion molecule expression.

Although NK cells may be preferentially recruited to the circulation, NK cell subsets may not be equally redistributed. A recent review on NK cell subsets and acute exercise (endurance exercise) indicated that CD56^{dim} cells are preferentially redistributed into the circulation in greater magnitude than CD56^{bright} NK cells (144). This may be due to differences in adhesion molecule expression. It has been demonstrated that CD56^{bright} NK cells highly express CD62L (L-selectin), while CD56^{dim} cells express low levels of this adhesion molecule (45). Based on the research of Miles et al 1998 CD56^{bright} NK cells may not be preferentially recruited to the circulation due to their expression of L-Selectin. Therefore the RE literature may agree with the findings that CD56^{dim} cells are preferentially redistributed to the circulation, however further work on differences in VLA-4 expression on both NK cell subsets needs to be performed. Since neutrophils expressing L-Selectin were preferentially recruited, a combinatorial signal of hormone receptors and adhesion molecules unique to each cell subset may control their redistribution.

Cortisol and the Immune Response to Resistance Exercise

Introduction. Cortisol increases post resistance exercise especially bouts that utilize multiple sets with short rest periods between 60-120 sec (14, 17, 36, 88, 96, 148, 151). Plasma cortisol levels peak IP to 30 PE, then either remain elevated above baseline or begin to decline toward baseline 30-60 minutes PE (14, 69, 70, 96, 101, 116, 151). By 90-120 min PE cortisol either returns to baseline or decreases below it, followed by values below baseline at 4h PE (20, 61, 116). This timeline is important since neutrophils and monocytes have been shown to increase over this same time interval, and several studies have shown a relationship between changes in cortisol and leukocyte subsets after RE (20, 61, 87, 103, 116). Therefore it is important to clarify the effects of cortisol on leukocyte redistribution.

The Glucocorticoids and Leukocyte Subsets. Intravenous doses of cortisol have been used to isolate its effects on circulating leukocytes. However, this model is not reflective of the impact of cortisol after a bout of resistance exercise since other hormones with known effects on leukocyte adhesion are elevated in conjunction with cortisol PE. Cortisol administration induces neutrophilia between 1-2h and 4-6h post injection and concomitantly induces lymphocytopenia and monocytopenia evident in the first hour and peaking 4-6h post injection (27, 37). After a bout of resistance exercise cortisol is correlated with increased neutrophil and monocyte counts, and decreases in CD8 T and NK cell counts (61, 103, 116). Although the relationship of neutrophils, lymphocytes and cortisol agree with cortisol administration studies, the directional relationship of cortisol and monocytes do not. There is evidence that cortisol can influence the transcription and therefore expression of adhesion molecules by endothelial cells suggesting a potential mechanism for the effects of cortisol on leukocyte adhesion (25). Since catecholamines which also increase post resistance training can influence the redistribution of cells with particular surface adhesion molecules it is plausible that some interaction effect between the influence of catecholamines and cortisol regulate the redistribution of monocytes. Similarly NK cells in the presence of elevated catecholamines early post exercise remain elevated, but after catecholamine levels decrease, cortisol becomes the dominant compartmentalizing factor. The ratio of these two hormones may be a crucial factor in determining the maintenance of leukocytes in the circulation.

Infiltration of Muscle Tissue by Leukocytes

Techniques Used to Quantify Leukocytes. Radiolabelling of leukocytes and muscle biopsies are the two techniques used to determine changes in muscle tissue accumulation and infiltration of leukocytes in humans. Radiolabelling of leukocytes is performed using Technetium-99m, a radionucleotide tracer with a short half-life of 6h that restricts its use to a 24h period (28, 64). This short half-life leads researchers to forego a pre-exercise sample leading to comparisons of an exercised leg and a control leg (81, 106). Radiolabeling does not indicate muscle infiltration, but accumulation in a region whether it be adhesion to the walls of the microvasculature or penetration into the muscle tissue. Muscle samples obtained from biopsies are stained for leukocyte subsets to determine the magnitude of leukocyte infiltration (106, 112). However, the biopsy itself causes muscle damage leading to an inflammatory response (85).

Technetium 99m Measures. The general pattern of response is little to no increase in the accumulation of radiolabeled leukocytes during the first 4 to 8h PE followed by a significant increase above baseline 20-24h PE (81, 114). In an exception to this pattern, increased accumulation of radiolabeled leukocytes was seen in the quadriceps throughout the 24h PE period in a group of subjects which ranged from sedentary to physically active (106). The sedentary subjects showed markedly greater accumulation of ^{99m}Tc-labeled leukocytes in the quadriceps (106). Comparisons of the sedentary participants to the other more fit subjects demonstrates that training status can influence the timing and magnitude of leukocytes beginning sooner after the cessation of exercise.

Muscle Biopsy Measures of Tissue Infiltration. No significant increase in muscle infiltration is detected during the first 3h PE, but by 48h PE there is a significant increase in both neutrophil and monocyte/macrophage infiltration (84).

Muscle damage determined by Z-disk streaming followed the same response pattern as leukocyte tissue penetration showing no increase at 3h PE but a significant increase by 48h PE (84). This common response pattern suggests the timing of leukocyte infiltration coincides with the development of muscle tissue damage. In contrast, increased leukocyte infiltration of the muscle tissue has been observed at all PE time points (0.5 to 168h PE) with the greatest accumulation of leukocytes at 4 and 7 days PE (106). This response pattern may result from the inclusion of subjects with diverse training experience.

The Controversy of Infiltrating Neutrophils. Although neutrophils have been shown to extravasate into tissue during acute inflammation, it is controversial whether this occurs after a bout of resistance exercise (33, 135). Paulsen et al 2010 determined that the amount of neutrophil infiltration into the muscle tissue after exercise was minimal and instead proposed that the neutrophils accumulate in the microvasculature of the quadriceps by adhering to endothelial cell walls and that only a small percentage of these cells extravasated into the muscle tissue (106). In contrast to these findings Mahoney et al 2008 reported a 14-fold increase in the presence of neutrophils (84). The reason for these dichotomous results may be at least partially explained by the difference in methods used to detect neutrophils. Mahoney et al 2008 stained for MPO to distinguish neutrophils, but Paulsen et al 2010 did not explicitly label neutrophils (84, 106). Instead the number of CD68 cells (monocytes/macrophages) was subtracted from the number of CD16 cells (which by majority are neutrophils and monocytes/macrophages) to estimate the level of neutrophil infiltration (106). However, the indefinite findings concerning the amount of tissue infiltration by neutrophils is a common paradox in the literature of exercise induced muscle injury (127).

Location of Tissue Macrophages. Macrophages located in the skeletal muscle are known as histiocytes, which are macrophages found in connective tissue (95). Several studies have confirmed the location of macrophages in the connective tissue of muscle (106, 139). This appears to be the normal pattern seen where macrophages can surround a muscle fiber through habitation in the connective tissue, mainly the endomysium and perimysium (106, 139). However, macrophages have been shown to penetrate the muscle fiber itself if the muscle tissue becomes necrotic (106, 139). After exercise wider regions of endomysium and perimysium around muscle fibers have been observed, even areas where the ECM detached from the muscle fiber surface on one or more sides (139). Muscle fiber infiltration was not observed where muscle fibers were detached from the ECM (139) demonstrating the use of connective tissue by macrophages as a path to damaged muscle fibers.

Summary. Radionucleotide labeling of leukocytes and muscle biopsies confirm that muscle tissue accumulation and infiltration by leukocytes does not occur for the first 3h of recovery PE and perhaps up to 8h. Muscle tissue accumulation and infiltration have been demonstrated between 20-48h PE, but the resolution of tissue infiltration and inflammation is still controversial and most likely depends on a multitude of factors including the exercise program variables and the training

status of the individuals (Figure 1). Although evidence indicates tissue infiltration by monocytes/macrophages, the degree of infiltration by neutrophils is still debatable. Macrophages use the connective tissue system as roads to reach damaged muscle fibers, but if necrotic cells are present they will infiltrate the muscle cell itself.

Sex Differences

Introduction. Specific hormones that affect the immune system such as catecholamines and cortisol have been shown to respond differently to resistance exercise in men and women (72, 138). Sex differences in the extent of muscle damage after resistance exercise have been shown in studies using animal models but the effects of sex are mixed in humans (22). The purpose of this section is to highlight the sex differences in muscle damage and the endocrine system in response to resistance training and how these factors may affect the number of infiltrating leukocytes.

Endocrine Responses. There are many endocrine differences between sexes in the hormones that affect muscular adaptation to exercise and this information can be found elsewhere (72, 138). The hormones with the greatest effects on leukocyte redistribution are the primary focus here. The PE cortisol response after acute resistance exercise is mixed displaying either no sex difference or a greater increase during the PE recovery period in men (42, 72). No differences in the response pattern of norepinephrine have been demonstrated between sexes (41). Although the pattern of response for epinephrine is similar between men and women, men maintain higher epinephrine levels during the PE period than women (41).

Receptor Expression. Circulating leukocytes express several hormone receptors including β_2 ADR and GCR (41, 42). No significant sex differences in β_2 ADR have been observed for any leukocyte subsets. GCR has only been measured in B cells and demonstrated a greater density in men at baseline but not in respect to the PE response (42). Therefore, hormonal differences during the PE recovery period do not affect the temporal response pattern in GCR or β_2 ADR receptor density since it is similar between sexes. Since sex differences in hormone expression do not lead to altered receptor expression differential recruitment to muscle tissue may be independent of the influence of hormones and instead may be dependent on other signals.

Different Microenvironments: Muscle Damage. Some sex differences become apparent when determining the extent of muscle damage after exercise. No sex differences have been determined in the amount of muscle damage based on Z-disk streaming (141, 142). In contrast, the CK response shows either a greater response in men or that no differences exist. One study observed no differences in the CK response, although a trend existed for a lower response in women (141). In a second study men maintained a higher CK response for a more extended recovery period than women (142). However, the validity of using CK as a marker of muscle damage has been questioned (104). Sex differences in the CK

24 • Immune Responses to Resistance Exercise

response may be due to the antioxidant effects of estradiol, but this effect is uncertain (5). Differences between sexes in the disruption of intracellular calcium concentrations within muscle fibers after exercise have been demonstrated in rats. After eccentric exercise, male rats demonstrated an increase in intracellular calcium concentration, that was significantly greater than female rats and ovariectomized female rats demonstrating an estrogen independent effect (137). Increased intracellular calcium in muscle cells is associated with muscle damage through several signaling pathways including activation of calpains and phospholipase A2 and increased production of reactive oxygen species (32, 48). The differences in calcium permeability in male and female muscle may explain differences in muscle damage.

Muscle Infiltration. Infiltration of muscle tissue by leukocytes and the level of tissue infiltration increases post resistance exercise (84, 106), but differences between sexes are less apparent. The day after a single bout of resistance exercise, men and women showed no differences in infiltration of neutrophils and macrophages by sex, but 24h after a 2nd repeated bout of resistance exercise women demonstrated significantly greater increases in neutrophils and macrophages than men (142). Increased muscle infiltration of neutrophils and macrophages has been observed 48h after a single bout of exercise, but only a trend was seen towards a greater increase in men than women (141). These studies indicate a sex difference in the timing of leukocyte infiltration leading to varying magnitudes of tissue infiltration at successive PE time points.

Summary. Although after resistance exercise sex differences exist in the levels of circulating hormones such as cortisol and epinephrine, there are no accompanying sex differences in the expression of β_2 ADR or GCR in circulating leukocyte subsets. No differences in the amount of Z-disk streaming are observed after a single bout of resistance exercise but women tend to display a lower CK response. Women may have a greater amount of leukocyte infiltration into muscle tissue than men, but this may be dependent on the timing of muscle biopsies and the level of ultra-structural damage and apoptotic cells. Differences in intracellular calcium accumulation between sexes may impact muscle damage or signaling between muscle fibers and leukocytes leading to differences in muscle tissue infiltration.

Effects of Resistance Training on Leukocyte Phenotypical Expression

Antigen Expression. Leukocytes express several receptors to aid in the response to environmental stimuli. CD64 and CD11b/CD18 are two such receptors that aid the cells in recognizing antibodies and components of the complement system respectively. CD11b/CD18 together compose the type 3 complement receptor. The CD11b/CD18 receptor is a glycoprotein found on the plasma membranes of neutrophils, monocytes and NK cells. It binds to the 3rd component of the complement system, iC3b, and results in phagocytosis of iC3b opsonized cells and causes adherence to vascular endothelium (26, 155). CD64 is the receptor for the Fc portion of IgG and is found on neutrophils and monocytes. Receptor binding causes antibody dependent cytotoxicity, phagocytosis, superoxide production and

degranulation (1, 130, 149). The changes in surface expression of these antigens after exercise is dichotomous hence no general response pattern can be discerned. The expression of CD11b and CD64 surface antigens have been shown to increase PE on neutrophils and monocytes after a single bout of exercise and to a greater extent than after a second repeated bout (109). In contrast, a single bout of exercise has demonstrated no significant changes in any of these surface antigens (125). Major differences between the studies that could cause the discrepancies were differences in subject training status and differences in the eccentric exercise protocol (109, 125).

TLR 4 and CD14 Expression. Toll-like receptor 4 is a pattern recognition receptor, CD14 is a co-receptor that aids TLR4 in the detection of lipopolysaccharide, a bacterial cell membrane component. They are highly expressed on monocytes and macrophages. TLR4 plays a role in the inflammatory response and chronic exercise has been demonstrated to provide anti-inflammatory effects. Changes in the expression pattern of TLR4 and CD14 in response to resistance exercise have been demonstrated in elderly women. TLR4 and CD14 surface expression were significantly greater in untrained subjects than trained subjects (40, 89). In corroboration of these findings TLR4 and CD14 mRNA expression were greater in untrained than in trained subjects (40). Dividing participants into HI and LO TLR4 expression groups has demonstrated that HI TLR4 expression coincides with greater expression of the LPS stimulated cytokines TNF- α , IL-6 and IL-1 β (89). Together these studies indicate that untrained subjects have higher TLR4 protein and mRNA expression than trained counterparts and that subjects who express higher levels of TLR4 also elicit a greater cytokine response to LPS stimulation. These findings show that chronic exercise may mediate some of its anti-inflammatory effects by affecting receptor expression for pathogen associated molecular patterns and by decreasing the cytokine response to stimulation. However, further research is required to determine if the decrease in TLR4 expression and subsequently lower cytokine secretion is beneficial in response to an actual infection.

Hypotheses and Future Directions

Initiation and Maintenance of the Cellular Innate Immune Response. It is plausible that the initiation of leukocyte infiltration into damaged muscular tissue may be due to recognition of intracellular components from the muscle such as desmin in combination with cytokines released from the muscle tissue itself (99, 143). These initial signals may activate/recruit resident macrophages to areas of damaged muscle tissue and induce the release of cytokines in cooperation with muscle cell myokines and satellite cells. The combination of cytokines can direct monocytes and neutrophils to damaged muscle tissue to aid in regeneration and repair. Maintenance of monocytes and neutrophils in the circulation to supply these cells to muscle tissue may be a function of CD56^{bright} NK cells. CD56^{bright} NK cells have been demonstrated to release several cytokines in response to costimulation of monokines such as IL-10, MIP-1 α , MIP-1 β , TNF- α , IFN- γ and GM-CSF (38). CD56^{bright} NK cells have also demonstrated the ability to produce G-CSF and M-CSF (123). Many of these cytokines promote a strong cellular response acting as chemokines or activators for both macrophages and neutrophils as well as potential signals for hematopoietic release into the circulation of immature neutrophils and monocytes. CD56^{bright} NK cells may mediate tissue repair from a distance by supporting the actions of macrophages, neutrophils and monocytes but without direct interaction since these cells do not infiltrate damaged muscle tissue after acute resistance exercise (106).

Prevention of Self-Recognition Through Spatial Redistribution. Although intracellular proteins and cytokines may aid innate cells of the immune system to be directed to the damaged tissue to facilitate repair and regeneration, there is a potential hazard for self-recognition by the adaptive immune system. This may be why acute exercise doesn't redistribute T and B cells into the circulation to the same extent as the cells of the innate arm. Furthermore, lymphocytes are demonstrated to be sequestered into the lymphatic system in the intestinal area according to animal studies due to the effects of cortisol (145). The timing of distributing lymphocytes into the lymphatic system may be to sequester these cells out of the circulation and away from damaged muscle tissue where they may come into contact with intracellular debris. Furthermore, their distribution back into the marginated pool (or their location in secondary lymphoid organs) may also be timed for when antigen presenting cells or debris that have the potential to induce selfrecognition may enter the lymphatic system, thereby maintaining a safety net against self-recognition through spatial separation by timing where the lymphocytes are distributed in the body after exercise.

Future Directions. The current literature has formed a foundation for the effects of resistance exercise on leukocyte redistribution. By studying the effects of each of the program variables on resistance exercise, a better understanding of the relationship between exercise and leukocyte redistribution can be obtained. To better understand the causes behind why each program variable induces leukocyte redistribution, additional research needs to be performed on surface adhesion molecule expression of all leukocyte subsets, how surface expression is affected by resistance exercise and what role hormones such as cortisol and catecholamines may play in redistribution and adhesion molecule expression. Only a single paper distinguishes NK cell subsets (118). Considering the functional differences of these cell subsets, their impact on health and how their proportions change with age, it is imperative to delineate the effects of exercise on these cell subsets. Finally, to better understand functional changes after resistance exercise, the application of -omics must be applied to resistance exercise research. The study of genomics in NK cell subsets determined several functional distinctions based on gene expression patterns (52). Expanding the application of genomics and proteomics to study functional differences in leukocyte subsets in response to exercise is a promising future step. Overall this paper has tried to summarize the current literature on resistance training and the immune response to condense the literature into a foundation. Based on this foundation and the suggestions for future research, a more coordinated multidirectional front of research can be pursued to better understand the impacts of resistance exercise on immune function.

Conclusion

After a bout of resistance exercise cells of the innate immune system, NK cells, monocytes and neutrophils are all preferentially elevated in the circulation PE, while cells of the adaptive immune system, the T cells and B cells, show a much lower magnitude of response. Changes in leukocyte redistribution generally follow a specific temporal pattern in young subjects. Monocytes and neutrophils aid in the repair and regeneration of muscle tissue as evidenced by their extravasation into muscle tissue or accumulation in the muscle vasculature. Increased circulating NK cells may function as supporting cells through cytokine mediation.

Elderly individuals display both an altered temporal pattern and magnitude of response for all leukocyte subsets. This disturbance is likely due to many factors including but not limited to immunosenescence, altered circadian rhythms, diminished catecholamine responses to acute resistance exercise, altered sensitivity to ACTH, and decreases in vascular plasticity. Although not all of the humoral and immune perturbations associated with aging can be restored through exercise, resistance training has the potential to improve the natural killer cell response to acute exercise, improve vasodilation and potentially shear stress stimulated leukocyte redistribution into circulation. Exercise alone may not restore leukocyte functionality, but the use of resistance exercise to study alterations to leukocyte function with age may shed light on new means to combat immunosenescence with aging.

Resistance training program variables such as rest interval length and load can impact the magnitude of leukocytosis after exercise. But further research needs to be done to determine the effects of each program variable independently. By understanding the impact each exercise program variable has on leukocyte redistribution, phenotype and function, a more optimal exercise prescription could be made. A more targeted exercise prescription that considers the effects on the immune system could be used to improve or maintain athletic performance during competition, and could be beneficial to health maintenance with age and the perturbation of disease.

Determining the potential therapeutic impact of resistance exercise on chronic illness is another important area of research, but it has received little attention (115). Although the study of resistance training and immunology is an important area of research on its own, studying the intersection of immunology and muscle physiology could also extend insight into the areas of sterile inflammation, muscular diseases and even autoimmune diseases. Resistance exercise provides a useful model for understanding how the immune system interacts with damaged and healthy tissue and how leukocyte redistribution is controlled.

00000000				-						
	Young	Acute						Acute	Exting De	tails
First Author	Second Author	Year	Gender	Age	Groups	SetsxReps	Load	Rest	Type	Exercises
Ramel A	Wagner KH	2003	Male	29.5±7.1	TR vs NRT	2 sets	75% 1RM	1 min	Circuit	Bench Press, Leg Press, Lat Pulldown, Leg
										Extension, Shoulder Press, Triceps, Crunch,
										Vertical Row, Biceps Curls and Pullups
Ramel A	Wagner KH	2004	Male	29.5±7.1	TR vs NRT	1 set	75% 1RM	1 min	Circuit	Bench Press, Leg Press, Lat Pulldown, Leg
										Extension, Shoulder Press, Triceps, Crunch
										Vertical Row, Biceps Curls and Pullups
Nieman DC	Henson DA	1995	Male	24.9±1.2	TR	8x10	65% 1RM	3 min	Lower Body	Squat
Mayhew DL	ThyfaultJP	2005	Male	22.2±0.3	1 min vs 3 min rest	10x10	65% 1RM	1/3 min	Lower Body	Leg Press
Miles MP	Leach SK	1998	Female	18-35	NRT	6x10	75% 1RM	2 min	ARET	Squat
Petridou A	Chatzinikolaou A	2007	Male	L: 23.8±1.1	Lean vs Obese	3x10-12	70-75% 1RM	2 min	Total Body	Chest Press, Seated Row, Leg Press,
				O: 24.2±1.0						Shoulder Press, Leg Extension, Leg Curl,
										Biceps Curs, Triceps Extension, Ab Curls,
										Back Extension
Dohi K	Mastro AM	2001	Female	HI: 23.6±2.6	Hi vs Lo Strength	6x10	10RM	2 min	ARET	Squat
				LO: 21.4 ± 3.5						
Nieman DC	Henson DA	1994	Male	TR: 23.6±0.7	TR vs NRT	1 RM squat testing	1RM	NR	Lower Body	Squat
				NRT:22.4 ± 0.5						
Potteiger JA	Chan MA	2001	Female	TR: 22.8±1.6	TR vs NRT	3x10	10RM	3 min	Total Body	Leg Press, Bench Press, Leg Extension,
				NRT:22.9 ± 0.9						Overhead shoulder Press, Seated Row, Leg
										Curls, Biceps Curls
Stock C	Schaller K	1995	Male	22-29	NRT	3 sets	70% by Reps	NR	Circuit	5 different exercises
Kraemer WJ	Clemson A	1996	Male	26.9±4.8	Hi vs Lo Cortisol	8x10	10RM	1/3 min	Lower Body	Squat
Miles MP	Naukam RJ	1999	Female	21-36	Hi CK vs Lo CK	Arm Curls: 2x25	Maximal	5 min	Eccentric	Leg Curls and Arm Curls
					TR and NRT	Leg Curls: 3x20	60°/ sec			
Simonson SR	Jackson CGR	2004	Male	30±7	RT vs Con	3x8-10	75% 1RM	1:2, W:R	Total Body	Crunches, Chest Press, Pulldown, Leg Curls,
										Leg Extension, Leg Press, Seated Rows and
										Shoulder Press
Pizza FX	Davis BH	1996	Male	20-37	NRT	Arm Curls: 25	NR	None	Eccentric	Arm Curls
Saxton JM	Claxton D	2003	NR	20-37	Я	Quadriceps: 2x25	1.05 rad/sec	5 min	Eccentric	Leg Extensions and Triceps Extensions
						Triceps: 2x25	0.35 rad/sec	5 min		
						Bench Stepping	20 steps/min	None	Bench Step	Bench Stepping for 40 minutes
Stupka N	Tarnopolsky MA	2001	Male &	22 ± 2	NRT	Leg Press: 3x12	120%	3 min	Eccentric	Leg Press and Leg Extension
			Female	23±2		Leg Ext: 10x10	Concentric			
							1RM			

Table 1. Summary of study designs and acute resistance exercise testing details of the research on leukocyte response patterns and resistance exercise.

					Young and Old					
					Study II: NRT	0: 57-65				
Leg Press		2 min	10RM	5x10	Whey vs Placebo	Y: 22-26	Male	2010	Myllymaki T	Hulmi JJ
Leg Press		2 min	1RM	4x10						
Squat		3 min	10RM	3x10	Study I: Young, TR					
Squat	Lower Body	3 min	1RM	5x1	Whey vs Placebo	23.9±2.0	Male	2010	Myllymaki T	Hulmi JJ
Half Squat			85% 1RM	3x10						
Squat	Lower Body		65% 1RM	5x10	CHO vs Placebo	25 ± 2.8	Male	2001	PotteigerJA	Koch AJ
Front Squat and Deadlift		forLB								
Row, French Curl, Biceps Curl, Back Squat,		3 min								
Military Press, Upright Row, Bentover Bar		for UB	3:60% 1RM							
Flat Bench Press, Incline Bench Press,	Total Body	2 min	1:40% 1RM	4x10	CHO vs Placebo	19- 27	Male	2004	Davis JM	Nieman DC
Curls						21.0±2.2				
Leg Press, Lat puldown, Bench Press and Leg	Total Body	1 min	55/65% 1RM	4x10	CHO vs Placebo	21.1 ± 1.4	Male	2008	Headley S	Carlson LA
								entatio	Supplem	
Squat	ARET	2 min	75% 1RM	6x10	TB vs UB	18-30	Female	2003	Kraemer WJ	Miles MP
					Non-exercise Con					
					Stregth & Hyper UB					
					Strength & Hyper TB					
					Strength & Power UB					
				No Acute Testing	Strength & Power TB	18-30	Female	2002	Kraemer WJ	Miles MP
								Chronic	Young	
			170 / Ser							
Leg Extensions	ECCENTRIC	T		OT XOC	INKI	20.4 I 0.7	Male	2002	Saluar A	
			100% 6RM	Leg Ext: 5x6	Control Leg					
Leg Press and Leg Extension	Lower Body	3 min	100% 3RM	Leg Press: 5x3	Exercise Leg vs	27.2±2.7	Male	2003	Risoy BA	Raastad T
			30°/sec		Control Leg					
Leg Extensions	Eccentric	30 sec	Maximal	30x10	Exercise Leg vs	28±4	Male	2010	Cameri R	Paulsen G
			30°/sec		Control Leg					
Leg Extensions	Eccentric	20 sec	Maximal	30x10	Exercise Leg vs	20-33	Female	1996	Reid DW	MacIntyre DL
					Exercise vs Control	22.13±3.09	Female			
Squat	Lower Body	3 min	90% 1RM	6x5	Male vs Female	24.63 ± 5.07	Male &	2011	Kraemer WJ	Fragala MS
					Exercise vs Control	22.13 ± 3.09	Female			
Squat	Lower Body	3 min	MA1 %06	6x5	Male vs Female	24.63 ± 5.07	Male &	2010	Kraemer WJ	Fragala MS
		3 min	1RM							
0		every 3rd set	Concentric	Leg Ext: 9x12		22.1±2	Female			-
Leg Press and Leg Extension	Eccentric	1 min/set	120%	Leg Press: 3x12	NRT	22.75 ± 2.4	Male &	2000	Low ther S	Stupka N

	Young	Chronic								
Machado M	Koch AJ	2010	Male	18.4 ± 0.8	Caffeine vs Placebo	3x10	10RM	2 min	Total Body	Bench Press, Pullover, Biceps Curls, Triceps
										Extensions, Leg Extensions and Prone Leg
										Curls
Kawada S	Kobayashi K	2010	Male	22.8 ± 4.0	Cystine/Theanine vs	4-6 sets, 6-10 reps	>80% 1RM	NR	NR	3-5 free weight exercises
					Placebo					1st week: 3 sessions
										2nd week: 6 sessions
	Elderly	Acute								
Przybyla B	Gurely C	2006	Male	Y: 31.9±7.1	Young vs Old	3x8	80% 1RM	2 min/set	Lower Body	Leg Press, Leg Curl and Leg Extension
				O: 71.4±4.6	NRT Males	3rd set to failure				
								5 min/exe		
Neves SC	Lima RM	2009	Female	67.5±3.9	S50%	2x13	50% 1RM	80 sec	Total Body	Bench Press, Lat Pulldown, Seated Row, Leg
					S80%	2x8	80% 1RM			Extension, Leg Curl and Leg Press (equated
					SC: Control	no exercise				work volume)
	Elderly	Chronic								
Rall LC	Roubenoff R	1996	Male &	Y: 25.8±2.5	Young	3x8	80% 1RM	2 min	Total Body	Abdominal, Back Extension, Chest Press, Leg
			Female	O: 70.3±5.0	OId RT					Press and Leg Extension
				Con: 68.8±2.9	Old Control					
Bermon S	Philip P	1999	Male &	67-80	OId RT	3x8	80% 1RM	2 min	Total Body	Leg Press, Knee Extension and Seated Chest
			Female		Old Control					Press
					Young Control					
Bermon S	Philip P	2001	Male &	Y: 29.4±0.4	Old vs Young	2x12	12RM	2 min	Total Body	Leg Press, Chest Press and Leg Extension
			Female	$0: 70.1 \pm 1.0$		4x5	SRM			
McFarlin BK	Flynn MG	2005	Female	RT:71.8±6.5	RT vs Con	2x8 @ 80% 1RM	80% 1RM	NR	Total Body	Seated Leg Press, Knee Extension, Knee
				C:73.1±6.0		3rd set to failure				Flexion, Seated Chest Press, Chest Flye, Lat
										Pulldown, Shoulder Press, Seated Rows, hip
										abduction and hip adduction
Raso V	Benard G	2007	Female	60-77	Con vs RT	No Acute Testing				
Flynn MG	Fahlman M	1999	Female	RT:72.6±3.5	RT vs Con	2x8	80% 1RM	NR	Lower Body	Leg extension, Leg Curl, Plantar Flexion and
				C: 72.9±4.9		3rd set to failure				Dorsiflexion
						2x8	8RM			Leg Abduction, Leg Adduction, Hip Extension
										and Hip Flexion

Bobeuf F	Labonte M	2009	Male &	61-73	Pre vs Post	3x8	80% 1RM	NR	Total Body	8 exercises for upper and lower body
			Female							
Flynn MG	McFarlin BK	2003	Female	65-85	HRT	2x8	80% 1RM	1.5 min	Total Body	Seated Leg Press, Knee Extension, Knee
					NHR	3rd set to failure				Flexion, Upright Chest Press, Chest "flys",
					MIB					Lat Pulldown, Shoulder Press, Upright Row,
					Control					Hip Abduction and Hip Adduction
McFarlin BK	Flynn MG	2004	Female	TR: 67 ± 5	TR vs NRT	NR	NR	NR	Total Body	Seated Chest Press, Chest Fly, lat Pulldown,
				NRT: 69 ± 5	Hi TLR4 vs Lo TLR4					Hip Abduction, Hip Adduction, Seated Rw,
										Knee Extension, Knee Flexion and Seated
										Leg Press
Abbreviations: T	R = Trained, NRT = Not	Resistance	e Trained, F	tT = Resistance	Training, Con = Contro	ol, TB = Total Body, UE	3 = Upper Body	/, LB = Lower I	3ody, CK = Creat	tine Kinase, W:R = Work:Rest Ratio, TLR4 =
Toll-Like Recepto	or 4, HRT = Hormone Re	eplacemer	nt Therapy,	NHR: No Horm	one Replacement Ther	rapy, MIB = No hormo	ones but on m	edications th	at could influen	ice bone, CHO = Carbohydrate, Hi = High, Lo =

Low, ARFT = Acute Resistance Exercise Test, NR = Not Recorded (to indicate that the descriptor was not mentioned in the text)

REFERENCES

- 1. Akerley WL, 3rd, Guyre PM, and Davis BH. Neutrophil activation through highaffinity Fc gamma receptor using a monomeric antibody with unique properties. Blood 77: 607-615, 1991.
- Alvarez E, Ruiz-Gutierrez V, Sobrino F, and Santa-Maria C. Age-related changes in membrane lipid composition, fluidity and respiratory burst in rat peritoneal neutrophils. Clin Exp Immunol 124: 95-102, 2001.
- Arnold L, Henry A, Poron F, Baba-Amer Y, van Rooijen N, Plonquet A, Gherardi RK, and Chazaud B. Inflammatory monocytes recruited after skeletal muscle injury switch into antiinflammatory macrophages to support myogenesis. J Exp Med 204: 1057-1069, 2007.
- 4. Bachen EA, Manuck SB, Cohen S, Muldoon MF, Raible R, Herbert TB, and Rabin BS. Adrenergic blockade ameliorates cellular immune responses to mental stress in humans. Psychosom Med 57: 366-372, 1995.
- 5. Bar PR, Amelink GJ, Oldenburg B, and Blankenstein MA. Prevention of exerciseinduced muscle membrane damage by oestradiol. Life Sci 42: 2677-2681, 1988.
- 6. Baty JJ, Hwang H, Ding Z, Bernard JR, Wang B, Kwon B, and Ivy JL. The effect of a carbohydrate and protein supplement on resistance exercise performance, hormonal response, and muscle damage. J Strength Cond Res 21: 321-329, 2007.
- Benschop RJ, Jacobs R, Sommer B, Schurmeyer TH, Raab JR, Schmidt RE, and Schedlowski M. Modulation of the immunologic response to acute stress in humans by beta-blockade or benzodiazepines. FASEB J 10: 517-524, 1996.
- 8. Benschop RJ, Nieuwenhuis EE, Tromp EA, Godaert GL, Ballieux RE, and van Doornen LJ. Effects of beta-adrenergic blockade on immunologic and cardiovascular changes induced by mental stress. Circulation 89: 762-769, 1994.
- 9. Benschop RJ, Rodriguez-Feuerhahn M, and Schedlowski M. Catecholamineinduced leukocytosis: early observations, current research, and future directions. Brain Behav Immun 10: 77-91, 1996.
- Benschop RJ, Schedlowski M, Wienecke H, Jacobs R, and Schmidt RE. Adrenergic control of natural killer cell circulation and adhesion. Brain Behav Immun 11: 321-332, 1997.
- 11. Bermon S, Philip P, Candito M, Ferrari P, and Dolisi C. Effects of strength exercise and training on the natural killer cell counts in elderly humans. J Sports Med Phys Fitness 41: 196-202, 2001.
- Bermon S, Philip P, Ferrari P, Candito M, and Dolisi C. Effects of a short-term strength training programme on lymphocyte subsets at rest in elderly humans. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 79: 336-340, 1999.
- 13. Bobeuf F, Labonte M, Khalil A, and Dionne IJ. Effect of resistance training on hematological blood markers in older men and women: a pilot study. Curr Gerontol Geriatr Res 156820, 2009.
- Bottaro M, Martins B, Gentil P, and Wagner D. Effects of rest duration between sets of resistance training on acute hormonal responses in trained women. J Sci Med Sport 12: 73-78, 2009.
- 15. Brolinson PG, and Elliott D. Exercise and the immune system. Clin Sports Med 26: 311-319, 2007.

- 16. Bruunsgaard H, Pedersen AN, Schroll M, Skinhoj P, and Pedersen BK. Decreased natural killer cell activity is associated with atherosclerosis in elderly humans. Exp Gerontol 37: 127-136, 2001.
- 17. Buresh R, Berg K, and French J. The effect of resistive exercise rest interval on hormonal response, strength, and hypertrophy with training. J Strength Cond Res 23: 62-71, 2009.
- Bush JA, Kraemer WJ, Mastro AM, Triplett-McBride NT, Volek JS, Putukian M, Sebastianelli WJ, and Knuttgen HG. Exercise and recovery responses of adrenal medullary neurohormones to heavy resistance exercise. Med Sci Sports Exerc 31: 554-559, 1999.
- 19. Calbet JA, and Holst JJ. Gastric emptying, gastric secretion and enterogastrone response after administration of milk proteins or their peptide hydrolysates in humans. Eur J Nutr 43: 127-139, 2004.
- Carlson LA, Headley S, DeBruin J, Tuckow AT, Koch AJ, and Kenefick RW. Carbohydrate supplementation and immune responses after acute exhaustive resistance exercise. Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab 18: 247-259, 2008.
- Chazaud B, Sonnet C, Lafuste P, Bassez G, Rimaniol AC, Poron F, Authier FJ, Dreyfus PA, and Gherardi RK. Satellite cells attract monocytes and use macrophages as a support to escape apoptosis and enhance muscle growth. J Cell Biol 163: 1133-1143, 2003.
- Clarkson PM, and Hubal MJ. Exercise-induced muscle damage in humans. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 81: S52-69, 2002.
- 23. Cooper MA, Fehniger TA, and Caligiuri MA. The biology of human natural killercell subsets. Trends Immunol 22: 633-640, 2001.
- 24. Cooper MA, Fehniger TA, Turner SC, Chen KS, Ghaheri BA, Ghayur T, Carson WE, and Caligiuri MA. Human natural killer cells: a unique innate immunoregulatory role for the CD56(bright) subset. Blood 97: 3146-3151, 2001.
- 25. Cronstein BN, Kimmel SC, Levin RI, Martiniuk F, and Weissmann G. A mechanism for the antiinflammatory effects of corticosteroids: the glucocorticoid receptor regulates leukocyte adhesion to endothelial cells and expression of endothelial-leukocyte adhesion molecule 1 and intercellular adhesion molecule 1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89: 9991-9995, 1992.
- 26. Cronstein BN, and Weissmann G. The adhesion molecules of inflammation. Arthritis Rheum 36: 147-157, 1993.
- Dale DC, Fauci AS, Guerry DI, and Wolff SM. Comparison of agents producing a neutrophilic leukocytosis in man. Hydrocortisone, prednisone, endotoxin, and etiocholanolone. J Clin Invest 56: 808-813, 1975.
- 28. Danpure HJ, Osman S, and Carroll MJ. The development of a clinical protocol for the radiolabelling of mixed leucocytes with 99Tcm-hexamethylpropyleneamine oxime. Nucl Med Commun 9: 465-475, 1988.
- 29. Davis JK, and Green JM. Caffeine and anaerobic performance: ergogenic value and mechanisms of action. Sports Med 39: 813-832, 2009.
- Deuschle M, Gotthardt U, Schweiger U, Weber B, Korner A, Schmider J, Standhardt H, Lammers CH, and Heuser I. With aging in humans the activity of the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal system increases and its diurnal amplitude flattens. Life Sci 61: 2239-2246, 1997.

34 • Immune Responses to Resistance Exercise

- 31. Dohi K, Mastro AM, Miles MP, Bush JA, Grove DS, Leach SK, Volek JS, Nindl BC, Marx JO, Gotshalk LA, Putukian M, Sebastianelli WJ, and Kraemer WJ. Lymphocyte proliferation in response to acute heavy resistance exercise in women: influence of muscle strength and total work. Eur J Appl Physiol 85: 367-373, 2001.
- 32. Duncan CJ. Role of intracellular calcium in promoting muscle damage: a strategy for controlling the dystrophic condition. Experientia 34: 1531-1535, 1978.
- Edens HA, and Parkos CA. Neutrophil transendothelial migration and alteration in vascular permeability: focus on neutrophil-derived azurocidin. Curr Opin Hematol 10: 25-30, 2003.
- 34. Egashira K, Inou T, Hirooka Y, Kai H, Sugimachi M, Suzuki S, Kuga T, Urabe Y, and Takeshita A. Effects of age on endothelium-dependent vasodilation of resistance coronary artery by acetylcholine in humans. Circulation 88: 77-81, 1993.
- Essen-Gustavsson B, and Tesch PA. Glycogen and triglyceride utilization in relation to muscle metabolic characteristics in men performing heavy-resistance exercise. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 61: 5-10, 1990.
- 36. Fatouros I, Chatzinikolaou A, Paltoglou G, Petridou A, Avloniti A, Jamurtas A, Goussetis E, Mitrakou A, Mougios V, Lazaropoulou C, Margeli A, Papassotiriou I, and Mastorakos G. Acute resistance exercise results in catecholaminergic rather than hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis stimulation during exercise in young men. Stress 13: 461-468, 2010.
- 37. Fauci AS, and Dale DC. The effect of in vivo hydrocortisone on subpopulations of human lymphocytes. J Clin Invest 53: 240-246, 1974.
- 38. Fehniger TA, Shah MH, Turner MJ, VanDeusen JB, Whitman SP, Cooper MA, Suzuki K, Wechser M, Goodsaid F, and Caligiuri MA. Differential cytokine and chemokine gene expression by human NK cells following activation with IL-18 or IL-15 in combination with IL-12: implications for the innate immune response. J Immunol 162: 4511-4520, 1999.
- Flynn MG, Fahlman M, Braun WA, Lambert CP, Bouillon LE, Brolinson PG, and Armstrong CW. Effects of resistance training on selected indexes of immune function in elderly women. J Appl Physiol 86: 1905-1913, 1999.
- Flynn MG, McFarlin BK, Phillips MD, Stewart LK, and Timmerman KL. Toll-like receptor 4 and CD14 mRNA expression are lower in resistive exercise-trained elderly women. J Appl Physiol 95: 1833-1842, 2003.
- 41. Fragala MS, Kraemer WJ, Mastro AM, Denegar CR, Volek JS, Hakkinen K, Anderson JM, Lee E, and Maresh CM. Leukocyte beta2-Adrenergic Receptor Expression in Response to Resistance Exercise. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2010.
- Fragala MS, Kraemer WJ, Mastro AM, Denegar CR, Volek JS, Kupchak BR, Hakkinen K, Anderson JM, and Maresh CM. Glucocorticoid receptor expression on human B cells in response to acute heavy resistance exercise. Neuroimmunomodulation 18: 156-164, 2011.
- 43. Franceschi C, Monti D, Sansoni P, and Cossarizza A. The immunology of exceptional individuals: the lesson of centenarians. Immunol Today 16: 12-16, 1995.
- French DN, Kraemer WJ, Volek JS, Spiering BA, Judelson DA, Hoffman JR, and Maresh CM. Anticipatory responses of catecholamines on muscle force production. J Appl Physiol 102: 94-102, 2007.
- 45. Frey M, Packianathan NB, Fehniger TA, Ross ME, Wang WC, Stewart CC, Caligiuri MA, and Evans SS. Differential expression and function of L-selectin on CD56bright and CD56dim natural killer cell subsets. J Immunol 161: 400-408, 1998.

- 46. Gerhard M, Roddy MA, Creager SJ, and Creager MA. Aging progressively impairs endothelium-dependent vasodilation in forearm resistance vessels of humans. Hypertension 27: 849-853, 1996.
- 47. Gillum TL, Kuennen MR, Schneider S, and Moseley P. A review of sex differences in immune function after aerobic exercise. Exerc Immunol Rev 17: 104-121, 2011.
- 48. Gissel H. The role of Ca2+ in muscle cell damage. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1066: 166-180, 2005.
- 49. Gleeson M. Immune function in sport and exercise. J Appl Physiol 103: 693-699, 2007.
- Gleeson M, Nieman DC, and Pedersen BK. Exercise, nutrition and immune function. J Sports Sci 22: 115-125, 2004.
- Goto K, Ishii N, Kizuka T, and Takamatsu K. The impact of metabolic stress on hormonal responses and muscular adaptations. Med Sci Sports Exerc 37: 955-963, 2005.
- 52. Hanna J, Bechtel P, Zhai Y, Youssef F, McLachlan K, and Mandelboim O. Novel insights on human NK cells' immunological modalities revealed by gene expression profiling. J Immunol 173: 6547-6563, 2004.
- 53. Haus E, Lakatua DJ, Swoyer J, and Sackett-Lundeen L. Chronobiology in hematology and immunology. Am J Anat 168: 467-517, 1983.
- 54. Haus E, and Smolensky MH. Biologic rhythms in the immune system. Chronobiol Int 16: 581-622, 1999.
- 55. Hulmi JJ, Kovanen V, Selanne H, Kraemer WJ, Hakkinen K, and Mero AA. Acute and long-term effects of resistance exercise with or without protein ingestion on muscle hypertrophy and gene expression. Amino Acids 37: 297-308, 2009.
- 56. Hulmi JJ, Myllymaki T, Tenhumaki M, Mutanen N, Puurtinen R, Paulsen G, and Mero AA. Effects of resistance exercise and protein ingestion on blood leukocytes and platelets in young and older men. Eur J Appl Physiol 109: 343-353, 2010.
- 57. Hulmi JJ, Tannerstedt J, Selanne H, Kainulainen H, Kovanen V, and Mero AA. Resistance exercise with whey protein ingestion affects mTOR signaling pathway and myostatin in men. J Appl Physiol 106: 1720-1729, 2009.
- Igbavboa U, Avdulov NA, Schroeder F, and Wood WG. Increasing age alters transbilayer fluidity and cholesterol asymmetry in synaptic plasma membranes of mice. J Neurochem 66: 1717-1725, 1996.
- 59. Juel C. Current aspects of lactate exchange: lactate/H+ transport in human skeletal muscle. Eur J Appl Physiol 86: 12-16, 2001.
- 60. Kawada S, Kobayashi K, Ohtani M, and Fukusaki C. Cystine and theanine supplementation restores high-intensity resistance exercise-induced attenuation of natural killer cell activity in well-trained men. J Strength Cond Res 24: 846-851, 2010.
- 61. Koch AJ, Potteiger JA, Chan MA, Benedict SH, and Frey BB. Minimal influence of carbohydrate ingestion on the immune response following acute resistance exercise. Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab 11: 149-161, 2001.
- 62. Kojima S, Ishida H, Takahashi M, and Yamaoka K. Elevation of glutathione induced by low-dose gamma rays and its involvement in increased natural killer activity. Radiat Res 157: 275-280, 2002.
- Kojima S, Nakayama K, and Ishida H. Low dose gamma-rays activate immune functions via induction of glutathione and delay tumor growth. J Radiat Res (Tokyo) 45: 33-39, 2004.

- Kowalsky RJaP, J. Randolph Radiopharmaceuticals in nuclear medicine practice. Norwalk CT: Appleton & Lange, 1987.
- Kraemer WJ. Endocrine responses to resistance exercise. Med Sci Sports Exerc 20: S152-157, 1988.
- 66. Kraemer WJ editor. Hormonal mechanisms related to the expression of muscular strength and power. Boston: Blackwell Scientific, 1992, p. 64-76.
- Kraemer WJ, Clemson A, Triplett NT, Bush JA, Newton RU, and Lynch JM. The effects of plasma cortisol elevation on total and differential leukocyte counts in response to heavy-resistance exercise. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 73: 93-97, 1996.
- 68. Kraemer WJ, Fleck SJ, Maresh CM, Ratamess NA, Gordon SE, Goetz KL, Harman EA, Frykman PN, Volek JS, Mazzetti SA, Fry AC, Marchitelli LJ, and Patton JF. Acute hormonal responses to a single bout of heavy resistance exercise in trained power lifters and untrained men. Can J Appl Physiol 24: 524-537, 1999.
- Kraemer WJ, Hakkinen K, Newton RU, McCormick M, Nindl BC, Volek JS, Gotshalk LA, Fleck SJ, Campbell WW, Gordon SE, Farrell PA, and Evans WJ. Acute hormonal responses to heavy resistance exercise in younger and older men. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 77: 206-211, 1998.
- Kraemer WJ, Hakkinen K, Newton RU, Nindl BC, Volek JS, McCormick M, Gotshalk LA, Gordon SE, Fleck SJ, Campbell WW, Putukian M, and Evans WJ. Effects of heavy-resistance training on hormonal response patterns in younger vs. older men. J Appl Physiol 87: 982-992, 1999.
- 71. Kraemer WJ, Noble BJ, Clark MJ, and Culver BW. Physiologic responses to heavyresistance exercise with very short rest periods. Int J Sports Med 8: 247-252, 1987.
- Kraemer WJ, Staron RS, Hagerman FC, Hikida RS, Fry AC, Gordon SE, Nindl BC, Gothshalk LA, Volek JS, Marx JO, Newton RU, and Hakkinen K. The effects of short-term resistance training on endocrine function in men and women. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 78: 69-76, 1998.
- Kurihara S, Shibahara S, Arisaka H, and Akiyama Y. Enhancement of antigen-specific immunoglobulin G production in mice by co-administration of L-cystine and Ltheanine. J Vet Med Sci 69: 1263-1270, 2007.
- Kusaka Y, Kondou H, and Morimoto K. Healthy lifestyles are associated with higher natural killer cell activity. Prev Med 21: 602-615, 1992.
- 75. Landmann R. Beta-adrenergic receptors in human leukocyte subpopulations. Eur J Clin Invest 22 Suppl 1: 30-36, 1992.
- Lanier LL, Le AM, Civin CI, Loken MR, and Phillips JH. The relationship of CD16 (Leu-11) and Leu-19 (NKH-1) antigen expression on human peripheral blood NK cells and cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J Immunol 136: 4480-4486, 1986.
- 77. Lardner A. The effects of extracellular pH on immune function. J Leukoc Biol 69: 522-530, 2001.
- 78. LeBien TW, and Tedder TF. B lymphocytes: how they develop and function. Blood 112: 1570-1580, 2008.
- Levy SM, Fernstrom J, Herberman RB, Whiteside T, Lee J, Ward M, and Massoudi M. Persistently low natural killer cell activity and circulating levels of plasma beta endorphin: risk factors for infectious disease. Life Sci 48: 107-116, 1991.
- Machado M, Koch AJ, Willardson JM, dos Santos FC, Curty VM, and Pereira LN. Caffeine does not augment markers of muscle damage or leukocytosis following resistance exercise. Int J Sports Physiol Perform 5: 18-26, 2010.

- MacIntyre DL, Reid WD, Lyster DM, Szasz IJ, and McKenzie DC. Presence of WBC, decreased strength, and delayed soreness in muscle after eccentric exercise. J Appl Physiol 80: 1006-1013, 1996.
- Mackinnon LT. Chronic exercise training effects on immune function. Med Sci Sports Exerc 32: S369-376, 2000.
- 83. Mahbub S, Brubaker AL, and Kovacs EJ. Aging of the Innate Immune System: An Update. Curr Immunol Rev 7: 104-115, 2011.
- Mahoney DJ, Safdar A, Parise G, Melov S, Fu M, MacNeil L, Kaczor J, Payne ET, and Tarnopolsky MA. Gene expression profiling in human skeletal muscle during recovery from eccentric exercise. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 294: R1901-1910, 2008.
- 85. Malm C, Nyberg P, Engstrom M, Sjodin B, Lenkei R, Ekblom B, and Lundberg I. Immunological changes in human skeletal muscle and blood after eccentric exercise and multiple biopsies. J Physiol 529 Pt 1: 243-262, 2000.
- Marshall K. Therapeutic applications of whey protein. Altern Med Rev 9: 136-156, 2004.
- 87. Mayhew DL, Thyfault JP, and Koch AJ. Rest-interval length affects leukocyte levels during heavy resistance exercise. J Strength Cond Res 19: 16-22, 2005.
- McCaulley GO, McBride JM, Cormie P, Hudson MB, Nuzzo JL, Quindry JC, and Travis Triplett N. Acute hormonal and neuromuscular responses to hypertrophy, strength and power type resistance exercise. Eur J Appl Physiol 105: 695-704, 2009.
- McFarlin BK, Flynn MG, Campbell WW, Stewart LK, and Timmerman KL. TLR4 is lower in resistance-trained older women and related to inflammatory cytokines. Med Sci Sports Exerc 36: 1876-1883, 2004.
- McFarlin BK, Flynn MG, Phillips MD, Stewart LK, and Timmerman KL. Chronic resistance exercise training improves natural killer cell activity in older women. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 60: 1315-1318, 2005.
- 91. Miles MP, Kraemer WJ, Grove DS, Leach SK, Dohi K, Bush JA, Marx JO, Nindl BC, Volek JS, and Mastro AM. Effects of resistance training on resting immune parameters in women. Eur J Appl Physiol 87: 506-508, 2002.
- 92. Miles MP, Kraemer WJ, Nindl BC, Grove DS, Leach SK, Dohi K, Marx JO, Volek JS, and Mastro AM. Strength, workload, anaerobic intensity and the immune response to resistance exercise in women. Acta Physiol Scand 178: 155-163, 2003.
- Miles MP, Leach SK, Kraemer WJ, Dohi K, Bush JA, and Mastro AM. Leukocyte adhesion molecule expression during intense resistance exercise. J Appl Physiol 84: 1604-1609, 1998.
- 94. Moretta L, and Moretta A. Unravelling natural killer cell function: triggering and inhibitory human NK receptors. EMBO J 23: 255-259, 2004.
- 95. Mosser DM, and Edwards JP. Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation. Nat Rev Immunol 8: 958-969, 2008.
- Mulligan SE, Fleck SJ, Gordon SE, Koziris LP, Triplett-McBride NT, and Kraemer WJ. Influence of Resistance Exercise Volume on Serum Growth Hormone and Cortisol Concentrations in Women. The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research 10: 256-262, 1996.
- 97. Nelson RJ, and Demas GE. Seasonal changes in immune function. Q Rev Biol 71: 511-548, 1996.

- Neves Sda C, Jr., Lima RM, Simoes HG, Marques MC, Reis VM, and de Oliveira RJ. Resistance exercise sessions do not provoke acute immunosuppression in older women. J Strength Cond Res 23: 259-265, 2009.
- 99. Nielsen S, and Pedersen BK. Skeletal muscle as an immunogenic organ. Curr Opin Pharmacol 8: 346-351, 2008.
- Nieman DC. Special feature for the Olympics: effects of exercise on the immune system: exercise effects on systemic immunity. Immunol Cell Biol 78: 496-501, 2000.
- 101. Nieman DC, Davis JM, Brown VA, Henson DA, Dumke CL, Utter AC, Vinci DM, Downs MF, Smith JC, Carson J, Brown A, McAnulty SR, and McAnulty LS. Influence of carbohydrate ingestion on immune changes after 2 h of intensive resistance training. J Appl Physiol 96: 1292-1298, 2004.
- 102. Nieman DC, Henson DA, Herring J, Sampson C, Suttles J, Conley M, and Stone MH. Natural Killer Cell Cytotoxic Activity in Weight Trainers and Sedentary Controls. The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research 8: 251-254, 1994.
- Nieman DC, Henson DA, Sampson CS, Herring JL, Suttles J, Conley M, Stone MH, Butterworth DE, and Davis JM. The acute immune response to exhaustive resistance exercise. Int J Sports Med 16: 322-328, 1995.
- Nosaka K, and Clarkson PM. Relationship between post-exercise plasma CK elevation and muscle mass involved in the exercise. Int J Sports Med 13: 471-475, 1992.
- Panda A, Arjona A, Sapey E, Bai F, Fikrig E, Montgomery RR, Lord JM, and Shaw AC. Human innate immunosenescence: causes and consequences for immunity in old age. Trends Immunol 30: 325-333, 2009.
- 106. Paulsen G, Crameri R, Benestad HB, Fjeld JG, Morkrid L, Hallen J, and Raastad T. Time course of leukocyte accumulation in human muscle after eccentric exercise. Med Sci Sports Exerc 42: 75-85, 2010.
- 107. Perskin MH, and Cronstein BN. Age-related changes in neutrophil structure and function. Mech Ageing Dev 64: 303-313, 1992.
- Petridou A, Chatzinikolaou A, Fatouros I, Mastorakos G, Mitrakou A, Chandrinou H, Papassotiriou I, and Mougios V. Resistance exercise does not affect the serum concentrations of cell adhesion molecules. Br J Sports Med 41: 76-79; discussion 79, 2007.
- Pizza FX, Davis BH, Henrickson SD, Mitchell JB, Pace JF, Bigelow N, DiLauro P, and Naglieri T. Adaptation to eccentric exercise: effect on CD64 and CD11b/CD18 expression. J Appl Physiol 80: 47-55, 1996.
- Poggi A, Panzeri MC, Moretta L, and Zocchi MR. CD31-triggered rearrangement of the actin cytoskeleton in human natural killer cells. Eur J Immunol 26: 817-824, 1996.
- 111. Potteiger JA, Chan MA, Haff GG, Mathew S, Schroeder CA, Haub MD, Chirathaworn C, Tibbetts SA, McDonald J, Omoike O, and Benedict SH. Training status influences T-cell responses in women following acute resistance exercise. J Strength Cond Res 15: 185-191, 2001.
- 112. Przybyla B, Gurley C, Harvey JF, Bearden E, Kortebein P, Evans WJ, Sullivan DH, Peterson CA, and Dennis RA. Aging alters macrophage properties in human skeletal muscle both at rest and in response to acute resistance exercise. Exp Gerontol 41: 320-327, 2006.

- 113. Pullinen T, Nicol C, MacDonald E, and Komi PV. Plasma catecholamine responses to four resistance exercise tests in men and women. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 80: 125-131, 1999.
- 114. Raastad T, Risoy BA, Benestad HB, Fjeld JG, and Hallen J. Temporal relation between leukocyte accumulation in muscles and halted recovery 10-20 h after strength exercise. J Appl Physiol 95: 2503-2509, 2003.
- 115. Rall LC, Roubenoff R, Cannon JG, Abad LW, Dinarello CA, and Meydani SN. Effects of progressive resistance training on immune response in aging and chronic inflammation. Med Sci Sports Exerc 28: 1356-1365, 1996.
- 116. Ramel A, Wagner KH, and Elmadfa I. Acute impact of submaximal resistance exercise on immunological and hormonal parameters in young men. J Sports Sci 21: 1001-1008, 2003.
- 117. Ramel A, Wagner KH, and Elmadfa I. Correlations between plasma noradrenaline concentrations, antioxidants, and neutrophil counts after submaximal resistance exercise in men. Br J Sports Med 38: E22, 2004.
- 118. Raso V, Benard G, AJ DASD, and Natale VM. Effect of resistance training on immunological parameters of healthy elderly women. Med Sci Sports Exerc 39: 2152-2159, 2007.
- 119. Rimaniol AC, Mialocq P, Clayette P, Dormont D, and Gras G. Role of glutamate transporters in the regulation of glutathione levels in human macrophages. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 281: C1964-1970, 2001.
- 120. Rincon HG, Solomon GF, Benton D, and Rubenstein LZ. Exercise in frail elderly men decreases natural killer cell activity. Aging (Milano) 8: 109-112, 1996.
- Robergs RA, Pearson DR, Costill DL, Fink WJ, Pascoe DD, Benedict MA, Lambert CP, and Zachweija JJ. Muscle glycogenolysis during differing intensities of weightresistance exercise. J Appl Physiol 70: 1700-1706, 1991.
- 122. Rowbottom DG, and Green KJ. Acute exercise effects on the immune system. Med Sci Sports Exerc 32: S396-405, 2000.
- 123. Saito S, Nishikawa K, Morii T, Enomoto M, Narita N, Motoyoshi K, and Ichijo M. Cytokine production by CD16-CD56bright natural killer cells in the human early pregnancy decidua. Int Immunol 5: 559-563, 1993.
- 124. Sansoni P, Cossarizza A, Brianti V, Fagnoni F, Snelli G, Monti D, Marcato A, Passeri G, Ortolani C, Forti E, and et al. Lymphocyte subsets and natural killer cell activity in healthy old people and centenarians. Blood 82: 2767-2773, 1993.
- 125. Saxton JM, Claxton D, Winter E, and Pockley AG. Peripheral blood leucocyte functional responses to acute eccentric exercise in humans are influenced by systemic stress, but not by exercise-induced muscle damage. Clin Sci (Lond) 104: 69-77, 2003.
- 126. Schedlowski M, Hosch W, Oberbeck R, Benschop RJ, Jacobs R, Raab HR, and Schmidt RE. Catecholamines modulate human NK cell circulation and function via spleen-independent beta 2-adrenergic mechanisms. J Immunol 156: 93-99, 1996.
- 127. Schneider BS, and Tiidus PM. Neutrophil infiltration in exercise-injured skeletal muscle: how do we resolve the controversy? Sports Med 37: 837-856, 2007.
- Selliah N, Bartik MM, Carlson SL, Brooks WH, and Roszman TL. cAMP accumulation in T-cells inhibits anti-CD3 monoclonal antibody-induced actin polymerization. J Neuroimmunol 56: 107-112, 1995.
- 129. Shaw AC, Joshi S, Greenwood H, Panda A, and Lord JM. Aging of the innate immune system. Curr Opin Immunol 22: 507-513, 2010.

- Shen L, Guyre PM, and Fanger MW. Polymorphonuclear leukocyte function triggered through the high affinity Fc receptor for monomeric IgG. J Immunol 139: 534-538, 1987.
- 131. Shephard RJ, and Shek PN. Cancer, immune function, and physical activity. Can J Appl Physiol 20: 1-25, 1995.
- 132. Simons K, and Gerl MJ. Revitalizing membrane rafts: new tools and insights. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 11: 688-699, 2010.
- 133. Simonson SR. The immune response to resistance exercise. J Strength Cond Res 15: 378-384, 2001.
- 134. Simonson SR, and Jackson CG. Leukocytosis occurs in response to resistance exercise in men. J Strength Cond Res 18: 266-271, 2004.
- 135. Smith C, Kruger MJ, Smith RM, and Myburgh KH. The inflammatory response to skeletal muscle injury: illuminating complexities. Sports Med 38: 947-969, 2008.
- 136. Sonnet C, Lafuste P, Arnold L, Brigitte M, Poron F, Authier FJ, Chretien F, Gherardi RK, and Chazaud B. Human macrophages rescue myoblasts and myotubes from apoptosis through a set of adhesion molecular systems. J Cell Sci 119: 2497-2507, 2006.
- 137. Sonobe T, Inagaki T, Sudo M, Poole DC, and Kano Y. Sex differences in intracellular Ca(2+) accumulation following eccentric contractions of rat skeletal muscle in vivo. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 299: R1006-1012, 2010.
- 138. Staron RS, Karapondo DL, Kraemer WJ, Fry AC, Gordon SE, Falkel JE, Hagerman FC, and Hikida RS. Skeletal muscle adaptations during early phase of heavy-resistance training in men and women. J Appl Physiol 76: 1247-1255, 1994.
- 139. Stauber WT, Clarkson PM, Fritz VK, and Evans WJ. Extracellular matrix disruption and pain after eccentric muscle action. J Appl Physiol 69: 868-874, 1990.
- 140. Stock C, Schaller K, Baum M, Liesen H, and Weiss M. Catecholamines, lymphocyte subsets, and cyclic adenosine monophosphate production in mononuclear cells and CD4+ cells in response to submaximal resistance exercise. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 71: 166-172, 1995.
- Stupka N, Lowther S, Chorneyko K, Bourgeois JM, Hogben C, and Tarnopolsky MA. Gender differences in muscle inflammation after eccentric exercise. J Appl Physiol 89: 2325-2332, 2000.
- Stupka N, Tarnopolsky MA, Yardley NJ, and Phillips SM. Cellular adaptation to repeated eccentric exercise-induced muscle damage. J Appl Physiol 91: 1669-1678, 2001.
- Tidball JG, and Villalta SA. Regulatory interactions between muscle and the immune system during muscle regeneration. Am J Physiol-Regul Integr Comp Physiol 298: R1173-R1187, 2010.
- 144. Timmons BW, and Cieslak T. Human natural killer cell subsets and acute exercise: a brief review. Exerc Immunol Rev 14: 8-23, 2008.
- 145. Toft P, Tonnesen E, Svendsen P, and Rasmussen JW. Redistribution of lymphocytes after cortisol administration. APMIS 100: 154-158, 1992.
- 146. Touitou Y, and Haus E. Alterations with aging of the endocrine and neuroendocrine circadian system in humans. Chronobiol Int 17: 369-390, 2000.
- 147. Traill KN, Schonitzer D, Jurgens G, Bock G, Pfeilschifter R, Hilchenbach M, Holasek A, Forster O, and Wick G. Age-related changes in lymphocyte subset proportions, surface differentiation antigen density and plasma membrane fluidity: application of the eurage senieur protocol admission criteria. Mech Ageing Dev 33: 39-66, 1985.

- 148. Uchida MC, Crewther BT, Ugrinowitsch C, Bacurau RF, Moriscot AS, and Aoki MS. Hormonal responses to different resistance exercise schemes of similar total volume. J Strength Cond Res 23: 2003-2008, 2009.
- 149. Unkeless JC, P. Boros, and M. Fein. Structure, signaling and function of FcyR. In: Inflammation: Basic Principles and Clinical Correlates, edited by John I. Gallin RS, Douglas T. Fearon, Barton F. Haynes and Carl Nathan. New York: Raven, 1992, p. 921-941.
- 150. Valitutti S, Dessing M, and Lanzavecchia A. Role of cAMP in regulating cytotoxic T lymphocyte adhesion and motility. Eur J Immunol 23: 790-795, 1993.
- 151. Walker S, Taipale RS, Nyman K, Kraemer WJ, and Hakkinen K. Neuromuscular and hormonal responses to constant and variable resistance loadings. Med Sci Sports Exerc 43: 26-33, 2011.
- 152. Walsh NP, Gleeson M, Pyne DB, Nieman DC, Dhabhar FS, Shephard RJ, Oliver SJ, Bermon S, and Kajeniene A. Position statement. Part two: Maintaining immune health. Exerc Immunol Rev 17: 64-103, 2011.
- 153. Walsh NP, Gleeson M, Shephard RJ, Woods JA, Bishop NC, Fleshner M, Green C, Pedersen BK, Hoffman-Goetz L, Rogers CJ, Northoff H, Abbasi A, and Simon P. Position statement. Part one: Immune function and exercise. Exerc Immunol Rev 17: 6-63, 2011.
- 154. Woods JA, Ceddia MA, Wolters BW, Evans JK, Lu Q, and McAuley E. Effects of 6 months of moderate aerobic exercise training on immune function in the elderly. Mech Ageing Dev 109: 1-19, 1999.
- 155. Wright S. Receptors for complement and the biology of phagocytosis. In: Inflammation: Basic Principles and Clinical Correlates, edited by John I. Gallin RS, Douglas T. Fearon, Barton F. Haynes and Carl Nathan. New York Raven, 1992, p. 477-495.